NOV 25 2016

COURT OF AFFEALS DIVISION IR STATE OF WASHINGTON By

# No. 93904.3

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

Cause No. 336841-III



TAPIO INVESTMENT COMPANY I, a Washington limited liability company; MONARCH INVESTMENT; TAPIO OFFICE IV PARTNERSHIP; CLONINGER/EUCKER PARTNERSHIP; PAMELA M. CLONINGER, an individual, and CLONINGER & ASSOCIATES, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company,

Appellants,

V.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through the Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

## APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the COA erred in failing to recognize an inverse condemnation claim for preacquisition conduct as an existing cause of action under Washington's Constitution and Washington Supreme Court decisions?
- 2. Whether the COA erred in not addressing Tapio's claim that damages are available under Washington law for government preacquisition conduct that is either abusive or unduly delayed?
- 3. Whether announcement of an intent to condemn, combined with other government preacquisition conduct can result in taking or <u>damaging</u> of private property rights requiring just compensation under Washington's Constitution?
- 4. Whether oppressive government conduct or undue delay in acquiring private property can result in an unconstitutional taking or **damaging** of private property rights?
- 5. Whether government conduct interfering with the right to use, enjoy and dispose of property, as well as causing a substantial loss of value to property, constitutes a compensable taking or <u>damaging</u> of property under Washington's Constitution?
- 6. Whether Washington's Constitution protects citizens from damage to private property rights of use, enjoyment and disposal due to

- government conduct or interference without just compensation first being paid?
- 7. Whether Washington's Constitution protects citizens from having private property rights **damaged** as a result of government acquisition of adjacent properties in a manner that knowingly blights or depresses property values of surrounding properties not yet acquired?
- 8. Whether actionable <u>damaging</u> of private property rights occurs due to government preacquisition conduct if there is evidence of a property owner's inability to sell resulting from such conduct?
- 9. Whether Washington's Constitution's prohibition against the taking or **damaging** of property without payment of just compensation is intended to protect all essential elements of ownership which make property valuable, including the right to sell?
- 10. Whether the Trial Court ignored both applicable law and evidence upon which a reasonable jury could have found DOT violated Tapio's right to just compensation due to the taking or **damaging** of private property?

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. CASE OVERVIEW

Tapio Center is a business complex located adjacent to the Thor-Freya Interchange on Interstate 90 in Spokane. It consists of 9 office buildings and a full-service restaurant on 6.2 acres. Ex 102. Tapio was designed with buildings positioned along the perimeter of the site, allowing for a park-like setting with common parking in the protected interior to which there are presently 8 entrances. RP 1012; **Appendix B**.

Tapio's unique layout adds significant value to its property and business. It was assembled and designed to operate as one cohesive commercial development generating rental income for Tapio's investing owners. Ex 210; RP 623-26. Although management of the property is split, all of the common areas are managed jointly, share joint utility and water systems, and are subject to reciprocal parking agreements, allowing Tapio to operate as a cohesive complex. RP 1006-07.

The North/South Corridor ("NSC") whenever totally completed is planned to be a 10.5 mile long, high speed limited access freeway linking U.S. Highways 2 and 395 to Interstate 90 in Spokane. In 1997, the Washington State Department of Transportation ("DOT") began designing the NSC Project. E.g., Exs 73, 105, 106, 109, 122. Approved plans were completed. RP 559. Those final plans reflect complete removal of 3 Tapio buildings while 2 other buildings will be "clipped" by the completed NSC. Exs 73, 105, 106, 109, 122; RP 562. In turn, all southern access to Tapio is to be eliminated, with parking to the northern portion of Tapio substantially affected. RP 557.

Tapio is the largest commercial structure and the only office complex in the planned NSC route which DOT needs to acquire for its Project. RP 311-12. DOT's plans showing construction over nearly half of Tapio's property and nearly all access to be taken from the property, have been

depicted in design for the Project as far back as at least 1999. RP 562-63. The design and plans were finalized in approximately 2002, and as they relate to Tapio have not changed since. RP 559.

The ROW plans were approved in 2002/03, and the limited access plans, including construction over Tapio, were approved in 2005 after an administrative hearing. RP 559. Pursuant to DOT's plans, construction of the NSC was to proceed from U.S. Highway 395 north of Spokane toward I-90 to the south. Ex 223. Because Tapio is among the southern-most properties affected by the approved plans, DOT did not require acquisition of the property for many years after its approved plans. Exs 9, 18; RP 403-04.

From the time the NSC design was approved in the late 1990s, DOT's plans have been highly publicized. E.g., Exs 13-15, 37, 39, 73-75, 80, 82, 83, 105, 106, 109, 112, 121, 143, 202, 203, 205-208, 210, 221-224, 233; VRP 554. This included more than 100 DOT public meetings, open houses, community group presentations, neighborhood council presentations, and formal hearings. <u>Id</u>. DOT also directly contacted every property owner and tenant along the proposed NSC route, including Tapio's owners and tenants, and conducted numerous one-on-one meetings between DOT staff and interested citizens. <u>Id</u>.

In 1999, Tapio's Owners notified DOT that its mere announcement of the NSC Plans would destroy the Tapio Center by affecting Tapio's

ability to lease the property. Ex 1. In fact, following DOT's 1999 publication of plans, Tapio's vacancies increased to its highest level in 20 years. Exs 1 and 6. For the next several years, Tapio regularly notified DOT that continued publicity about its NSC route was worrying Tapio's tenants, hampering Tapio leasing activity, and making plans for improvements and long-term maintenance difficult. Exs 9, 17, 50; RP 648, 652-54, 678-79. By December 2002, DOT was fully aware its continued activities were creating an economic blight on Tapio. RP 390-99. At that time, 14 years before trial, Tapio requested DOT to acquire its property or to commence condemnation to prevent further damage to its property rights. Ex. 17; RP 401. DOT refused to do so.

By the end of 2003, DOT had started acquisition of several other properties in the direct vicinity of Tapio, even though actual freeway construction was still several miles north. RP 431-34, 470, 524-25. DOT purchased increasing numbers of residential homes in the immediate Tapio area from 2007 to 2011. Exs 138-143; RP 675-77. The majority of those DOT acquired properties surrounding Tapio were demolished and bulldozed under. RP 431, 435, 437-39, 462, 557, 676; Exs 10, 24, 27, 29, 32, 138-143. DOT's scheme of acquiring and destroying structures in the area surrounding Tapio caused the area to become increasingly visibly blighted and depressed. Exs 138-143.

As a result, Tapio sent another letter to DOT in March 2010, stating that its continued publicity of plans to acquire Tapio, coupled with DOT's campaign of acquiring and demolishing substantial numbers of surrounding properties was causing Tapio tenants to vacate, a decline in rentability and marketability, a significant decline in Tapio's market value, and an inability to sell Tapio's property. Ex 50; RP 678-79. In response, DOT still refused to acquire Tapio's property, instead informing it that DOT could not even provide a timeline for when actual construction of the NSC would begin in the Tapio area. Ex 220; RP 680-81.

Nevertheless, DOT systematically continued acquiring and demolishing approximately 300 parcels in the immediate vicinity of Tapio, essentially leaving it an island in the middle of DOT's demolition and construction zone. Exs 138-143; RP 453. DOT's actions resulted in Tapio's inability to find and keep tenants, or to find a purchaser other than DOT due to the blighted and depressed conditions DOT created in the area.

Thus, in November 2011, Tapio filed an inverse condemnation action claiming DOT's precondemnation conduct had reduced the market value of Tapio's property. CP 1-7. Tapio alleged that DOT's actions—including announcement of plans to build the NSC through the middle of the Tapio Center and DOT's widespread publication of its plans as early as 1999; the aggressive acquisition of properties immediately surrounding Tapio

admittedly to prevent commercial rezoning of the neighborhood and any consequential increase in property values; the purchase and demolition of properties near Tapio long before those phases of construction were to ever begin; and DOT's refusal to rent or acquire, much less provide any timeline whatsoever as to when Tapio would be acquired —was abusive conduct, causing undue delay, and the cause of substantial damage to Tapio's property rights. <u>Id</u>.

In 2012, DOT moved to dismiss Tapio's claims. CP 254-79. Superior Court Judge Leveque denied the motion for summary judgment finding genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether DOT engaged in "abusive conduct" or "undue delay" in taking or damaging Tapio's property rights. CP 546-49. DOT's Motion for Discretionary Review was also denied. Appendix C. The case was then reassigned, and DOT attempted to overturn its prior denied summary judgment motion. CP 1070-1133. That motion was heard on 5/16/2014, just two weeks prior to trial. On 5/29/2014, Judge Moreno denied DOT's motion, again confirming genuine issues of material fact existed. CP 2107-11.

## B. TRIAL COURT EVIDENCE AND DECISION

Trial began on 6/2/2014. During trial, Tapio presented evidence confirming DOT had engaged in acquiring hundreds of properties surrounding Tapio outside the phases for which DOT had funding to

perform. RP 441-42, 444, 499, 506. DOT employees testified that the residential properties were acquired near Tapio long before they were needed for the NSC in order to prevent residential properties from being rezoned to commercial zoning. RP 441-42, 444, 499, 506. DOT's intent in doing so was to preclude the neighborhood from being rezoned and an increase in property values including those of Tapio. <u>Id</u>. The net effect was DOT's manipulation of the real estate market near Tapio to depress market values, thus lowering DOT's future acquisition costs.

DOT's acquisition of the hundreds of properties surrounding Tapio not only had greatly decreased Tapio's property values, but also impacted Tapio's ability to rent or sell. RP 1120-21. Trial testimony supported that commercial brokers were not likely to bring potential tenants to Tapio in light of DOT's long-publicized NSC plans. RP 951, 983. Real estate experts confirmed that DOT's plans and acquisition activity near Tapio significantly affected Tapio's ability to ever sell its property. Id.

Notably, DOT confirmed at trial that despite its previous claims of lacking funding to acquire Tapio's property, its budget in 2007 would actually have accommodated Tapio's total acquisition. RP 506. However, instead of acquiring Tapio with funds specifically available for that purpose, DOT spent the next several years, intentionally buying and demolishing surrounding properties effectively blighting the area, including Tapio. RP

453, 506. By perpetrating its acquisition scheme, DOT effectively "warehoused" the Tapio Center leaving DOT ultimately as the only future Tapio buyer at a significantly discounted price. RP 897-915. Expert testimony supported that it was unlikely commercial banks would even provide loans to a potential purchaser of Tapio due to DOT's published construction plans and its obvious conduct of acquiring almost all the properties surrounding Tapio. RP 926-27, 933.

Consequently, Tapio presented sufficient evidence at trial allowing a jury to conclude that DOT's conduct as to Tapio was abusive and constituted undue delay, all of which deprived Tapio of the use, enjoyment, and benefit of their property, as well as the opportunity to sell the property and to realize on their investment.

At the close of Tapio's case, DOT moved to dismiss under CR 50. DOT had made the exact same arguments during its two prior summary judgment motions, rejected respectively by two different judges due to existing questions of material fact. CP 546-49, 2107-11. However, in reversal of its prior summary judgment ruling, the Trial Court inexplicably granted DOT's mid-trial motion stating:

[T]he <u>Lange</u> case . . . is what I heavily relied on in my ruling with regard to summary judgment and in analyzing what I've got before me and whether there's enough evidence that's been presented by the plaintiff to justify moving on with this case. So in <u>Lange</u>, the court held that "...unwarranted delay coupled with

affirmative action by the condemning authority resulting in a decrease in property value and actual encouragement of neighborhood deterioration," or blight, "or other abusive conduct," such as intentional delay on the part of the state so as to deprecate the property, could result in a taking or damaging.

...

So applying all of this to the facts, the testimony that I've heard thus far is that . . . Tapio was identified early on in '99 as a property that was in the way of the highway and a piece of it was going to have to be taken. As early as 2000, 2001, the state started sending out notices... to the property owners, press releases. They started having open houses, and letters also went out to tenants of these properties, specifically Tapio. About 14 years has . . . gone by now, and from what I can tell from the testimony, most, if not all, of the homes surrounding Tapio have been purchased and most of them have been demolished. And that, it's alleged, caused the blight, the 'blight' term that we heard about.

. . .

[T]here is a lack of evidence, in my mind, sufficient to support a cause of action that, again, is not really on the books in the State of Washington but I think based upon due process and the constitution would be allowable if the plaintiff could prove that there was undue delay, oppressive behavior, or some kind of intentional conduct by the state. I can't find that in any of . . . the testimony, so I am going to grant the defendant's motion to dismiss.

#### RP 1187-91.

In so ruling, the Trial Court did properly recognize a viable cause of action for precondemnation conduct under Washington law where the government engages in "undue delay" or "abusive conduct." Additionally, the Trial Court correctly recognized material questions surrounding whether the State's behavior constituted oppressive conduct ("I note that 14 years seems like a long time. But . . . I can't make that call; I can't say it's too

long"; "what undue delay is to one person may not be to the other."). RP 1190, 1191. Yet, then proceeded nonetheless to erroneously grant DOT's motion to dismiss, thereby preventing the jury from determining the questions of fact concerning whether DOT's conduct and delays were abusive or unduly delayed. The Trial Court inexplicably interceded on issues clearly for the jury, thus committing reversible error.

# C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In April 2015, Tapio timely appealed the Trial Court's erroneous ruling taking the case from the jury. On 10/27/2016, Division III affirmed the Trial Court. **Appendix A**. However, in doing so, the COA simply ignored the controlling issue being appealed: "Was Tapio entitled to have a jury determine whether DOT's preacquisition behavior constituted abusive conduct or undue delay?" Instead, the COA stated:

On appeal, Tapio abandons any request that we recognize a new type of inverse condemnation claim for taking by oppressive preacquisition conduct—one theory that it advanced in the trial court. It contends, instead, that its evidence was sufficient to support its claim of inverse condemnation under existing law.

Id. at 2. Unaccountably, this statement by Division III does not even closely reflect Tapio's position or arguments on appeal. Tapio's position has been consistent since filing its lawsuit. Inverse condemnation claims for precondemnation activity are recognized under existing Washington

law where government engages in abusive conduct or undue delay in a manner that damages private property rights.

Therefore, Tapio never requested Division III to recognize a "new" type of inverse condemnation claim since that cause of action already exists in Washington! In direct response to Division III's oral question whether Tapio was requesting a "new" cause of action, the Court was advised:

[T]his case was pled as an inverse condemnation claim. It was not pled as a 'separate abuse of the precondemnation conduct claim.' That term however, does apply and identif[ies] the cause of the significant precondemnation damage that the plaintiffs suffered as a direct result of the State's inverse condemnation acts which specifically targeted the plaintiff's property for taking, acts which are not permitted under our state constitution.

So we're not asking this court this morning, to recognize this as a new cause of action, as some other states have done. That's because Washington law applicable to inverse condemnation, condemnation law in general, already supports the claim that we alleged in our Complaint.

Id. at 11.

As Tapio explained, the Trial Court properly recognized a cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct that damages property rights; but it erroneously and improperly applied CR 50 to prevent the jury from determining factual issues as to whether DOT engaged in abusive conduct or undue delay. The COA compounded the Trial Court's error in refusing to address that argument. Instead the COA chose to inaccurately

classify the precondemnation damages claim as an asserted "new" cause of action, a decision directly contradicting existing Washington law.

Accordingly, Tapio respectfully requests this Court accept review confirming that (1) Washington's Constitution and existing case law already recognize causes of action for precondemnation taking or damaging where government engages in abusive conduct and undue delay, and that (2) questions of fact as to whether government has engaged in abusive precondemnation conduct or undue delay, are for the trier of fact.

### V. ARGUMENT

Review should be accepted if there is (1) a significant question of law under Washington's State Constitution; or (2) if the Petition involves a substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court; or (3) if the decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b). Here, each of these factors exist and are satisfied.

# A. The Petition Involves A Significant Question Under Washington's Constitution.

Washington's Constitution states "[n]o private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just compensation having first been made". Wash. Const, art. I, sec. 16 (emphasis added). Notably, our Constitution provides additional protection not found in the takings clause of the U.S. Constitution. Our State's Constitution protects

citizens from their private property being "taken or damaged" without being paid for such conduct. Therefore, our Constitution "provide[s] Washington citizens with enhanced protections" beyond those provided by the U.S. Constitution, namely as to the "damaging" of private property without first making just compensation. See Manufactured Housing Communities of Wash. v. State, 142 Wn.2d 347, 360 (2000).

Our courts have specifically recognized that property rights protected by our Constitution include the ability to use or sell the property. See e.g. Pierce v. Northeast Lake Wash. Sewer Dist., 123 Wn.2d 550, 560 (1944) citing Highline Sch. Dist. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 11 (1976). Where governmental taking or damaging occurs to private property "[t]he amount of compensation necessary to satisfy the constitutional mandate is a matter for judicial determination. This should be determined by a jury 'unless a jury be waived, as in other civil cases in courts of record, in the manner prescribed by law." Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 640, 657 (1997) (internal citations omitted).

Therefore, significant constitutional questions exist in this case concerning when private property is considered "damaged" under our Constitution; and whether our citizen's property rights are protected from government precondemnation activity constituting abusive conduct and undue delay. Here, Division III erroneously concluded that since there "had"

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