RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

ELECTRONICALLY FILED

NO. 90506-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TAPIO INVESTMENT COMPANY I, a Washington limited liability company; MONARCH INVESTMENT; TAPIO OFFICE IV PARTNERSHIP; CLONINGER/EUCKER PARTNERSHIP; PAMELA M. CLONINGER, and individual, and CLONINGER & ASSOCIATES, L.L.C., a Washington limited liability company,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, by and through the Department of Transportation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KELLY A. PARADIS, WSBA 47175 Assistant Attorney General

ANNE E. EGELER, WSBA 20258 Deputy Solicitor General

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Tapio requests discretionary review under the criteria stated in RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4). Petition For Review (Pet.) at 13. Under these grounds for review, this Court will accept a petition only if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court, a significant question of law under the state or federal constitution is involved, or the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4). This Court should not accept review under any of these grounds.

A. Washington Inverse Condemnation Law Is Well-Settled

Washington case law is well-settled. Legal acts that do not interfere physically or by regulating use of the property are not takings,

and the state constitution does not require compensation for all damage to property caused by legal acts.

This Court has expressly declined to recognize a cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct. When there is precondemnation depreciation in market value, the trial court may provide a remedy during the formal condemnation action. Therefore, there is no need to create a new cause of action.

1. Legal acts that do not interfere physically or by regulating use of the property are not takings

It is well-settled that legal acts are not takings under article I, section 16 of the Washington Constitution if they do not physically interfere or regulate use of the property. That section provides that "[n]o private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private use without just compensation having been first made[.]" Const. art. I, § 16. Inverse condemnation occurs when the government takes or damages property without the formal exercise of the power of eminent domain. *Dickgieser v. State*, 153 Wn.2d 530, 534-35, 105 P.3d 26 (2005). A plaintiff must show "(1) a taking or damaging (2) of private property (3) for public use (4) without just compensation being paid (5) by a governmental entity that has not instituted formal proceedings." *Id.* at 535.

Washington courts recognize two types of takings—physical and regulatory. *See, e.g., Fitzpatrick v. Okanogan County*, 169 Wn.2d 598, 238 P.3d 1129 (2010) (physical taking); *Mfd. Housing Cmtys. v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 347, 13 P.3d 183 (2000) (regulatory taking). A physical taking "occurs when government encroaches upon or occupies private land for its own proposed use." *Berst v. Snohomish County*, 114 Wn. App. 245, 255, 57 P.3d 273 (2002) (quoting *Palazzolo v. Rhode Island*, 533 U.S. 606, 617, 121 S. Ct. 2448, 150 L. Ed. 2d 592 (2001)). A regulatory taking occurs when "government actions do not encroach upon or occupy the property yet still affect and limit its use to such an extent that a taking occurs." *Id.* at 255-56 (quoting *Palazzolo*, 533 U.S. at 617).

Washington courts do not recognize a taking in the absence of a physical invasion or a regulation severely restricting use. Lacking a claim of a physical or regulatory taking, Tapio essentially asks this Court to adopt a new cause of action for precondemnation conduct that decreases market value. Such a cause of action is inconsistent with Washington law.

2. The Washington Constitution does not require compensation for all damage to property caused by legal acts

It is well-settled that not all damage to property caused by legal acts, including depreciation in market value, amounts to a taking. On the contrary, this Court has repeatedly held that article I, section 16 does not

authorize compensation merely for depreciation in market value caused by a legal act. *Pierce v. Ne. Lake Washington Sewer & Water Dist.*, 123 Wn.2d 550, 562, 870 P.2d 305 (1994) ("[O]ur prior decisions do not lead to the conclusion that loss in market value . . . is of itself evidence of governmental interference with the use and enjoyment of property entitling them to compensation."); *Aubol v. City of Tacoma*, 167 Wash. 442, 446-47, 9 P.2d 780 (1932) (the constitution "does not authorize compensation to appellants for depreciation in the market value of their lands, as the diminution, if any, in value of the land was caused by a legal act").

These decisions are consistent with decisions from the United States Supreme Court. *Kirby Forest Indus. v. United States*, 467 U.S. 1, 15, 104 S. Ct. 2187, 81 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1984) ("impairment of the market value of real property incident to otherwise legitimate government action ordinarily does not result in a taking" and "in the absence of an interference with an owner's legal right to dispose of his land, even a substantial reduction of the attractiveness of the property to potential purchasers does not entitle the owner to compensation" (footnote omitted)); *Andrus v. Allard*, 444 U.S. 51, 66, 100 S. Ct. 318, 62 L. Ed. 2d 210 (1979) (A "loss of future profits—unaccompanied by any physical property restriction—provides a slender reed upon which to rest a takings claim.").

This Court has also held that article I, section 16 does not require compensation for "mere infringement" of a property owner's "personal pleasure and enjoyment" of the property. *Pierce*, 123 Wn.2d at 564. Rather, damage for which compensation is to be made is damage to the property itself. *Pierce*, 123 Wn.2d at 563-64 (citing *People ex rel. Dep't of Pub. Works v. Symons*, 54 Cal. 2d 855, 859, 357 P.2d 451, 9 Cal. Rptr. 363 (1960)).

Here, the activities prior to condemnation were not only legal, they were necessary. The Department is *required* by law to be highly public and transparent when planning this type of project. Moreover, this Court has recognized that project delays due to funding limitations are not actionable, even in the context of motorist injuries. *See Avellaneda v. State*, 167 Wn. App. 474, 489, 273 P.3d 477 (2012).

Without addressing these cases, nor pointing to any illegal conduct by the Department, Tapio contends that it is entitled to compensation for damage to its ability to use and sell its property for fair market value

¹ See, e.g., RCW 47.52.133, .135, .137 (requiring public hearings, notice, administrative procedures, and formal plans for limited access facilities); RCW 47.01.290 (stating that "environmental review of transportation projects is a continuous process that should begin at the earliest stages of planning and continue through final project construction"); RCW 47.01.300 (requiring environmental review and public participation on transportation projects); WAC 468-12-055 (requiring SEPA process to be completed before Department commits to specific course of action); 23 U.S.C. § 128(a) (public process necessary for any federal aid project, including "hearings[] for the purpose of enabling persons in rural areas through or contiguous to whose property the highway will pass to express any objections"); 23 U.S.C. § 139(f)-(g) (general procedures, including public comment, on planning and alternatives).

because the Washington Constitution provides "additional protection." Pet. at 13-16. Tapio relies on the addition of the word "damaged" in article I, section 16. Pet. at 13-16. But this contention is not supported either by the law or by a fully developed legal argument.

Washington is one of 26 states whose constitutions contain the "damaging" language. William B. Stoebuck & John W. Weaver, 17 Washington Practice: Real Estate § 9.19 (2d ed. & Supp. May 2016 WL). The purpose of this language was to allow compensation in cases involveing losses of street access caused by changes of grade of existing streets, in which most courts had been unwilling to hold a taking had occurred. *Id.*

Over 40 years ago, this Court sought to distinguish a "taking" from a "damaging." See, e.g., Ackerman v. Port of Seattle, 55 Wn.2d 400, 348 P.2d 664 (1960); Wandermere Corp. v. State, 79 Wn.2d 688, 488 P.2d 1088 (1971). But in 1976, this Court eliminated any such distinction. Highline Sch. Dist. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 11, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976). Thus, Washington law does not support the assertion that the word "damaged" provides Washington citizens with "additional protection."

Tapio provides no authority to the contrary. It quotes *Manufactured Housing Communities*, 142 Wn.2d at 360, out of context to argue that the Washington Constitution provides "enhanced protections" as to "the 'damaging' of private property[.]" Pet. at 14. But that decision

only stated that Washington courts provide greater protections against governmental takings "by literally defining what constitutes 'private use.'" *Mfd. Housing Cmtys.*, 142 Wn.2d at 359. It did not consider whether the word "damaged" in article I, section 16 provides greater protections. *See id.* at 357 n.8. Moreover, Tapio does not even suggest that an analysis under *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986), would support its assertion. Therefore, this Court should not consider this argument. *Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. Smitch*, 87 Wn. App. 27, 32-33, 940 P.2d 274 (1997) (declining to consider whether the use of "damaged" in article I, section 16 requires a different analysis based on the appellant's failure to brief *Gunwall*). The Department's lawful actions do not support a cause of action under the Washington Constitution.

3. This Court has expressly declined to recognize a new cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct

Lastly, it is well-settled that there is no cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct in Washington. This Court made that clear in *Orion Corp. v. State*, 109 Wn.2d 621, 671-72, 747 P.2d 1062 (1987). In that case, this Court expressly declined to recognize a cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct. *Id.* at 672. It observed that there was "no Washington case law to support [Orion's] claim that the government can unconstitutionally take private property by 'oppressive

preacquisition conduct", and it expressly declined to recognize "this new cause of action." *Orion Corp.*, 109 Wn.2d at 671, 672.

In short, there is no question concerning when private property is considered "damaged" under article I, section 16 or whether Washington recognizes a claim for precondemnation conduct that decreases marketability. It is well-established that property is not taken absent a physical interference or regulation restricting use; that not all damage to private property caused by a legal act is compensable; and that Washington law does not recognize a cause of action for oppressive precondemnation activity.

There is no reason for this Court to depart from these well-established principles in this case. There is simply no support for Tapio's claim that existing law supports a cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct, and Tapio has expressly disavowed any endeavor to seek changes to the law. Moreover, the Department did not physically invade Tapio's property or restrict its use. Its conduct was lawful, appropriate, and necessary. The trial court properly dismissed this action.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Entirely Consistent With Lange v. State

Tapio asserts that this Court "clearly recognize[d] a cause of action exists for oppressive preacquisition conduct" in *Lange v. State*, 86 Wn.2d

585, 547 P.2d 282 (1976). Pet. at 18. Not so. This Court specifically rejected Tapio's reading of *Lange* when it decided *Orion Corp.* more than a decade later. This alone confirms that *Lange* does not support Tapio's argument.

Moreover, even if *Orion Corp.* had not provided clear guidance, Lange would still fail to support Tapio's assertion of a cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct. In Lange, this Court established only that diminution in value and marketability of property is compensable, if at all, in the formal condemnation proceeding. Lange, 86 Wn.2d at 586, 595-96. It did not establish that precondemnation activity gives rise to a separate cause of action, and it certainly authorized no action on the facts Tapio presents. This Court, and other courts, have recognized the boundaries of Lange's holding. See State v. McDonald, 98 Wn.2d 521, 532, 656 P.2d 1043 (1983) ("Lange merely modifies the time of valuation in certain cases where that is necessary to achieve a just compensation" but it "does not allow a landowner to claim, under the guise of compensation, profits allegedly lost as a result of precondemnation activities of the State."); Joseph M. Jackovich Revocable Trust v. State, 54 P.3d 294, 302 (Alaska 2002) (Lange is "properly regarded as [an] early valuation eminent domain case[]; [it does not establish the appropriate standard for reviewing the state's

precondemnation conduct where condemnation proceedings are either abandoned or never initiated.").

Although *Lange* references inverse condemnation based on precondemnation activities, it does not create such a cause of action. *See Lange*, 86 Wn.2d at 587-88. Rather, in dictum, the Court distinguished the extra-jurisdictional cases cited by the appellants and noted that there was no evidence of unreasonable or intentional delay in the case at issue. *Id*.

Furthermore, *Lange* is distinguishable from the present case. In *Lange*, the undisputed evidence demonstrated that the plaintiff could not sell or develop the property at issue due to RCW 47.28.026(1), which allows the Department to foreclose improvements to prospectively condemned property under certain circumstances and time frames. *Lange*, 86 Wn.2d at 594. As a result, the property had no income potential. *Id.* Here, in contrast, there were no restrictions on Tapio's property and the highway planning was legally deemed tentative. In addition, Tapio continued to derive income and benefit from the property.

In short, this Court has made it abundantly clear that there is no cause of action for oppressive precondemnation conduct in Washington.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is entirely consistent with *Lange* and with *Orion Corp*. It is Tapio's argument—not the decision of the Court of Appeals—that is inconsistent with Washington law.

C. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Lastly, Tapio claims review is warranted to address an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 19-20. Specifically, Tapio asserts that this type of government precondemnation conduct is occurring across the state and permits the government to impact property values by intentionally creating blighted neighborhoods. Pet. at 20. Tapio's speculative argument fails for several reasons.

For one, Washington law already accommodates precondemnation activities. As this Court made clear in *Lange*, the sole remedy for a precondemnation decrease in market value, if any, is in a formal condemnation proceeding. *Lange*, 86 Wn.2d at 591. Accordingly, this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest where Washington property owners' interests are protected by the remedies afforded in formal condemnation actions.

Second, as other states have recognized, Tapio's new legal theory would severely impede public works projects. Other courts have recognized this. For example, the Texas Supreme Court found that "sound public policy" supports the conclusion that economic damage to a property owner "generally does not give rise to an inverse condemnation cause of action unless there is some direct restriction on use of the property." *Westgate Ltd. v. State*, 843 S.W.2d 448, 453 (Tex. 1992). It reasoned:

Construction of public-works projects would be severely impeded if the government could incur inversecondemnation liability merely by announcing plans to condemn property in the future. Such a rule would encourage the government to maintain the secrecy of proposed projects as long as possible, hindering public debate and increasing waste and inefficiency. See Loitz, 61 Ill. 2d at 96, 329 N.E.2d at 211 ("[I]mposition of liability for precondemnation activities would tend to inhibit free and open discussion of proposed public improvements"). After announcing a project, the government would be under pressure to acquire the needed property as quickly as possible to avoid or minimize liability. This likewise would limit public input, and forestall any meaningful review of the project's environmental consequences. The government also would be reluctant to publicly suggest alternative locations, for fear that it might incur inverse condemnation liability to multiple landowners arising out of a single proposed project. Failing to consider available alternatives is not only inefficient, but is at odds with proper environmental review.

Westgate Ltd., 843 S.W.2d at 453 (alterations in original); see also Pennsylvania Coal Co. v. Mahon, 260 U.S. 393, 413, 43 S. Ct. 158, 67 L. Ed 322 (1922) ("Government hardly could go on if to some extent values incident to property could not be diminished without paying for every such change in the general law.").

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